FILED WITH PERMISSION

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner.

v.

S241231

SUPERIOR COURT OF RIVERSIDE COUNTY,

Respondent,

PABLO ULLISSES LARA, JR.,

Real Party in Interest.

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUL 17 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal Case No. E067296
Riverside County Superior Court Case Nos. RIF1601012 and RIJ1400019
The Honorable Richard T. Fields, Judge (case no. RIF1601012)
The Honorable Mark E. Peterson, Judge (case no. RIJ1400019)

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MICHAEL A. HESTRIN
District Attorney
County of Riverside
ELAINA GAMBERA BENTLEY
Assistant District Attorney
KELLI M. CATLETT

INTRODUCTION

Proposition 57 ("The Public Safety & Rehabilitation Act of 2016") was passed by the voters on November 8, 2016, and became immediately effective the following day. Among other things, Proposition 57 eliminated mandatory and discretionary direct filing by prosecutors, and enacted various procedural requirements that must take place in juvenile court before a case may be transferred to a court of criminal jurisdiction. As

such, any prosecution of a minor offender initiated on or after November 9, 2016 must begin in juvenile court, and the newly enacted conditions precedent must be satisfied before the case may be transferred to a court of criminal jurisdiction.

The present case raises two related issues: (1) are the conditions precedent enacted by Proposition 57 retroactively applicable to cases that were lawfully pending in a court of criminal jurisdiction prior to the law's effective date?; and (2) if not, can those conditions precedent properly be applied in a prospective manner once a case is already lawfully pending in a court of criminal jurisdiction? For the reasons outlined below, both questions must be answered in the negative.

First, Proposition 57 cannot be applied retroactively to cases lawfully pending in a court of criminal jurisdiction at the time the new law was enacted because the voters did not intend a retroactive application. Rather, Proposition 57 is wholly silent regarding retroactivity of the juvenile-law amendments, and provides no procedural mechanism by which to apply the new law retroactively. In fact, portions of the ballot materials demonstrate an intent for those new provisions to apply prospectively only. In any event, and as is well established, in the absence of an express retroactivity provision, a statute must be applied prospectively only.

Second, Proposition 57 cannot properly be applied in a prospective manner to cases that were lawfully pending in adult court prior to the law's effective date. That is because the changes enacted by Proposition 57 relate to procedural requirements that must take place *before* prosecution against a minor offender may be transferred into adult court. Once a case is already pending in adult court, however, the only manner in which to apply those pre-transfer procedural requirements would be to halt the pending adult-

court proceedings and send the case backwards to juvenile court, after which necessary conditions precedent must be satisfied before the case may be returned to where it started. This is by its very nature an impermissible retroactive application of the new law.

Ultimately, a bright-line rule must be drawn regarding application of the juvenile-law amendments enacted by Proposition 57. Applicable authority provides such a rule: For any criminal prosecution initiated on or after November 9, 2016, or any fitness or transfer hearing conducted on or after November 9, 2016, the juvenile-law amendments enacted by Proposition 57 are fully applicable in a properly prospective manner. Those amendments cannot be retroactively applied, however, to cases that were lawfully pending in a court of criminal jurisdiction prior to November 9, 2016.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Do the juvenile-law amendments enacted by Proposition 57 ("The Public Safety & Rehabilitation Act of 2016") apply retroactively to cases pending in a court of criminal jurisdiction before the law's effective date?

STATEMENT OF FACTS¹

On various occasions in 2014 and 2015, real party sexually assaulted Jane Doe, who was seven and eight years old at the time. (Exhibits 2 & 5.) On one occasion, real party pointed a gun at Jane Doe and stated, "If you tell your Mom or Dad, I will shoot you with [this] gun." (Exhibit 5, at p. 9.) On a subsequent occasion, real party pointed a gun at Jane Doe and forced her to orally copulate him, threatening that he would shoot her in the head if she did not comply. (Exhibit 5, at pp. 14-15.) On another occasion, real party forcibly and painfully sodomized Jane Doe, causing her to bleed from her anus. (Exhibit 5, at pp. 16-21.) Real party sodomized Jane Doe multiple times. (Exhibit 5, at pp. 17-18.)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY²

On June 10, 2016, following a preliminary hearing, the Riverside County District Attorney filed an information charging real party with kidnapping for rape, oral copulation, and sodomy (count 1; Pen. Code, §

¹ The underlying facts are not relevant to the issues raised in the petition for writ of mandate/prohibition and certified for review by this Court. As such, this Statement of Facts—taken from the Reporter's Transcript of the Preliminary Hearing, which was included as Exhibit 5 to the initial petition—is abbreviated and included for context. All citations to Exhibits are to those exhibits filed in support of the petition for writ of mandate/prohibition in the Court of Appeal.

² As stated above, all citations to Exhibits are to those exhibits filed in support of the petition for writ of mandate/prohibition in the Court of Appeal. In addition, petitioner has filed a concurrent request for judicial notice of the underlying Riverside County Superior Court records in *People v. Pablo Ullisses Lara, Jr.* (case number RIF1601012) and *In re Pablo Ullisses Lara, Jr.* (case number RIJ1400019), which contain additional procedural actions that took place subsequent to the filing of the initial petition for writ of mandate/prohibition.

209, subd. (b)(1)); forcible oral copulation with a child under 14 years of age (count 2; Pen. Code, § 288a, subd. (c)(2)(B)); and two counts of forcible sodomy (counts 3 & 4; Pen. Code, § 286, subd. (c)(2)(B)). The information (and the previous complaint) was directly filed in adult court within the meaning of then-applicable Welfare and Institutions Code section 707, subdivision (d)(2)(A). (Exhibits 1 [superior court case print], 2 [information], & 5 [reporter's transcript of preliminary hearing].)

On November 8, 2016, the voters passed Proposition 57 ("The Public Safety & Rehabilitation Act of 2016"), which became immediately effective November 9, 2016 (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10, subd. (a) [an initiative approved by the voters takes effect the day after the election unless the measure provides otherwise].)

On November 16, 2016, real party filed a motion requesting his case be transferred to juvenile court for a "fitness hearing" in light of Proposition 57. (Exhibit 3.) On November 22, 2016, the People filed an opposition to the motion to transfer the case to juvenile court, arguing that Proposition 57 was not retroactive to cases that were lawfully pending in adult court prior to the new law's effective date. (Exhibit 4.)

On November 29, 2016, the trial court conducted a hearing regarding Proposition 57's application to this case. (Exhibits 1 & 7.) Following argument by the parties, the trial court granted real party's motion to transfer the case to juvenile court, ruling that the juvenile-law amendments enacted by Proposition 57 are retroactively applicable to cases pending in adult court before the law's effective date. (Exhibit 7, at pp. 14-16.) At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court granted the People's request for a brief stay of the proceedings to file a petition for writ of mandate/prohibition in the Court of Appeal in an effort to obtain appellate guidance. (Exhibit 7, at pp. 16-17.)

On December 2, 2016, the People filed a petition for writ of mandate/prohibition in the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, and requested a further stay of the trial court proceedings.

On December 16, 2016, the Court of Appeal issued an order stating, in its entirety, as follows:

Real party in interest is requested to file, within 10 days from the date of this order, an informal letter response to the petition for writ of mandate filed by the People on December 2, 2016. [¶] A copy of the informal response shall be served upon petitioner. [¶] Petitioner shall have 10 days after service to respond thereto.

The Court of Appeal did not rule on the People's request for a further stay of the trial court proceedings.

On December 21, 2016, because there was no intervening stay issued by the Court of Appeal, the trial court formally "certified" the matter for juvenile court and ordered the defendant released from custody unless the People filed a juvenile delinquency petition within 48 hours. The trial court ordered the adult-court proceedings suspended indefinitely. (Riverside County Superior Court case print for case number RIF1601012.)

On December 22, 2016, the People filed a juvenile delinquency petition against real party in case number RIJ1400019. The charges in the delinquency petition mirrored the previously pending charges in adult court. The People also filed a concurrent request for a transfer hearing. On December 23, 2016, a detention hearing was conducted in juvenile court and real party denied the allegations. All constitutional and statutory timing requirements were reset as if the case had started anew in juvenile

court. (Riverside County Superior Court case print for case number RIJ1400019.)

Meanwhile, on December 20, 2016, real party filed an informal response to the petition for writ of mandate/prohibition in the Court of Appeal. On December 29, 2016, the People filed an informal reply.

On January 19, 2017—without having issued an order to show cause or a request for formal briefing, without holding oral argument, and without providing notice under *Palma v. U.S. Industrial Fasteners, Inc.* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 171—the Court of Appeal issued a published opinion denying the petition for writ of mandate/prohibition. Specifically, the Court of Appeal held that Proposition 57 was properly applied in the present case because the new law enacted a procedural change "governing the conduct of trials." (*Lara* slip opn. #1, at p. 5, citing *Tapia v. Superior Court* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 282, 289 (*Tapia*).) Because trial had not yet occurred in this case, the Court of Appeal concluded the changes enacted by Proposition 57 could be properly applied prospectively. (*Lara* slip. opn. #1, at p. 5.)

On February 15, 2017—shortly before the People would have been able to file a petition for review with this Court—the Court of Appeal issued an order stating as follows:

On the court's own motion, REHEARING IS ORDERED, thereby vacating the opinion filed January 19, 2017, and setting the cause at large in this court. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.268(a)(1), (d).)

Good cause appears in that the court has determined that a fuller treatment is required of the issues related to the denial of a petition by an opinion after issuance of a notice that the court may issue a peremptory writ in the first instance. (See Opn. filed Jan. 29, 2017, p. 2.)

Because the cause has been set at large again, and to give the parties the opportunity to address these issues and the merits more thoroughly, real party in interest is invited to serve and file, within 10 days of this order, an informal letter response to the petition for writ of mandate filed by the People on December 2, 2016. Petitioner may serve and file an informal letter reply within 10 days after the filing of real party's response. The court may issue a peremptory writ in the first instance, or the court may deny the petition by a written opinion on the merits that determines a cause and constitutes law of the case.

The following day, on February 16, 2017, real party filed an informal response. On February 23, 2017, petitioner filed an informal reply.

On March 13, 2017, the Court of Appeal filed a second published opinion. The distinction between the two opinions related to the procedural history of the writ proceedings, and the Court of Appeal's previous issuance of a reasoned opinion without providing notice to the parties under *Palma v. U.S. Industrial Fasteners, Inc., supra*, 36 Cal.3d at page 178. The Proposition 57 analysis contained in the second *Lara* opinion was identical to the Proposition 57 analysis contained in the first *Lara* opinion. (See *Lara* slip opn. #1, at pp. 3-11; *Lara* slip opn. #2, at pp. 28-36.)

Meanwhile, the proceedings continued to progress in the juvenile court. Specifically, on January 25, 2017, the Probation Department filed a 43-page "fitness report" recommending that real party be transferred back to adult court. On March 9, 2017, the juvenile court conducted a transfer hearing, after which it took the matter under submission. On March 30, 2017, the juvenile court issued a written decision denying the People's

request to transfer real party back to adult court. A contested jurisdictional hearing was scheduled in juvenile court for April 20, 2017.

On April 13, 2017, the People filed a petition for review in this Court and requested a stay of the lower court proceedings. On April 19, 2017, this Court issued a stay of the lower court proceedings. On May 17, 2017, this Court granted the petition for review.

ARGUMENT

THE JUVENILE-LAW AMENDMENTS ENACTED BY PROPOSITION 57 ARE INAPPLICABLE TO CASES THAT WERE LAWFULLY PENDING IN COURTS OF CRIMINAL JURISDICTION PRIOR TO THE LAW'S EFFECTIVE DATE

The procedural transfer requirements enacted by Proposition 57 cannot be lawfully applied to cases properly pending in adult court at the time the new law became effective because doing so would necessitate an impermissible retroactive application of the law. As such, for any criminal prosecution initiated on or after November 9, 2016, or any fitness or transfer hearing conducted on or after November 9, 2016, the juvenile-law amendments enacted by Proposition 57 are fully applicable in a properly prospective manner. But for the reasons set forth below, those amendments cannot be retroactively applied to cases that were lawfully pending in a court of criminal jurisdiction prior to November 9, 2016.

A. Proposition 57 – The Public Safety And Rehabilitation Act Of 2016

Historically, California required a judicial determination of unfitness for juvenile court before a minor could be prosecuted in adult court. (See Stats. 1961, ch. 1616, § 2, p. 3485; Stats. 1975, ch. 1266, § 4, p. 3325; *Juan G. v. Superior Court* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 1480, 1489, & fn. 4.) With

the passage of Proposition 21 in March 2000, however, a local district attorney was authorized, under certain defined circumstances, to file a criminal action against a minor offender directly in adult court—a procedure known as "discretionary direct filing." (Former Welf. & Inst. Code, § 707, subd. (d)³; see Voter Information Guide, Primary Elec. (Mar. 7, 2000) Proposition 21, the Gang Violence and Juvenile Crime Prevention Act of 1998, § 26, pp. 126-127; see generally Manduley v. Superior Court (2002) 27 Cal.4th 537, 548-550; Juan G. v. Superior Court, supra, 209 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1489 & fn. 4.) In addition, some crimes were considered so serious by the voters that direct filing in adult court was required—a procedure known as "mandatory direct filing." (Former § 602, subd. (b): see Proposition 21, § 18, p. 125; Juan G. v. Superior Court, supra, 209 Cal. App. 4th at pp. 1488-1489.) Mandatory direct filing had previously been in place for minor offenders 16 years of age or older (Stats, 1999, ch. 996, § 12.2, p. 7560), but was reduced to 14 years of age by Proposition 21 (Proposition 21, § 18, p. 125).

On November 8, 2016, the voters passed Proposition 57 ("The Public Safety & Rehabilitation Act of 2016"), which became immediately effective November 9, 2016. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10, subd. (a) [an initiative approved by the voters takes effect the day after the election unless the measure provides otherwise].) As relevant here, the declared purposes of Proposition 57 included "[s]top[ing] the revolving door of crime by emphasizing rehabilitation, especially for juveniles"; and "[r]equir[ing] a judge, not a prosecutor, to decide whether juveniles should be tried in adult court." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) text of Prop. 57, § 2, p. 141.) As stated in the legislative analysis provided to the

³ All further unspecified statutory references are to the Welfare and Institutions Code.

voters, Proposition 57 was intended to change state law "to require that, before youths can be transferred to adult court, they must have a hearing in juvenile court" and to ensure that youths "accused of committing certain severe crimes would no longer automatically be tried in adult court . . ." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) analysis by the legislative analyst, p. 56.)

To achieve those purposes, Proposition 57 made various changes to the Welfare and Institutions Code, such as eliminating mandatory and discretionary direct filing of juvenile cases in adult court, and eliminating various presumptions that a juvenile is not fit to be prosecuted in juvenile court under certain circumstances.

Specifically, Proposition 57 eliminated former section 602, subdivision (b), which mandated that juveniles 14 years of age or older who personally commit murder with a special circumstance, or who personally commit one of a number of enumerated sex offenses, be prosecuted in adult court. Proposition 57 also eliminated former section 707, subdivision (d), which gave prosecutors discretion to direct file a juvenile case involving a serious or violent felony in adult court.

In addition, Proposition 57 eliminated all presumptions that a minor with a felony criminal history, or a minor who commits a particular serious or violent felony, is not fit for juvenile court. Specifically, Proposition 57 eliminated the following presumption that was contained in former section 707, subdivision (a)(2)(B): A juvenile 16 years of age or older who commits a new felony after having committed two or more felonies when he or she was 14 years of age or older is presumed unfit for juvenile court. In addition, Proposition 57 eliminated the following presumption that was contained in former section 707, subdivision (c): A juvenile 14 years of

age or older who commits a serious or violent felony as enumerated in section 707, subdivision (b), is presumed unfit for juvenile court.

Finally, Proposition 57 eliminated the term "fitness hearing" and replaced it with the term "transfer hearing." (§ 707, subd. (a).) Following the enactment of Proposition 57, there are two types of cases for which a juvenile may be transferred to a court of criminal jurisdiction: (1) the commission of any felony crime by a minor who was 16 years of age or older at the time of the crime; or (2) the commission of an offense enumerated in section 707, subdivision (b), by a minor who was 14 or 15 years of age at the time of the crime. (§ 707, subd. (a)(1).) The case must be first filed in juvenile court and the prosecutor may make a motion to transfer the minor from juvenile court to a court of criminal jurisdiction. (*Ibid.*) Upon such a motion, the juvenile court shall order the probation officer to submit a report on the behavioral patterns and social history of the minor. (*Ibid.*)

Following consideration of the probation officer's report, in addition to any other relevant evidence that the prosecution or the minor submit, the juvenile court shall decide whether the minor should be transferred to a court of criminal jurisdiction. (§ 707, subd. (a)(2).) In making its determination, the court shall consider the criteria set forth in section 707, subdivision (a)(2)(A) through (E). (§ 707, subd. (a)(2).) Specifically, the court must consider: (1) The degree of criminal sophistication exhibited by the minor; (2) Whether the minor can be rehabilitated prior to the expiration of the juvenile court's jurisdiction; (3) The minor's previous delinquent history; (4) Success of previous attempts by the juvenile court to rehabilitate the minor; and (5) The circumstances and gravity of the offense

alleged in the petition to have been committed by the minor. (§ 707, subd. (a)(2)(A)-(E).)⁴

B. General Principles Of Statutory Construction

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