IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner,

V.

RIVERSIDE COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT,

Respondent,

PABLO ULLISSES LARA, JR.,

Real Party in Interest.

S241231

Ct. App. No. E067296

Super. Ct. No. RIF1601012

SUPREME COURT
FILED

AUG 0 3 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST'S ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STEVEN L. HARMON
Public Defender
County of Riverside
LAURA ARNOLD
State Bar No. 177978
Deputy Public Defender
4200 Orange St.
Riverside, California, 92501
Phone: (951) 304-5600
Eacsimile: (951) 304-5605

Facsimile: (951) 304-5605 Email: lbarnold@rivco.org

Attorney for Real Party in Interest PABLO ULLISSES LARA, JR.

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

(§ 602.) Notably, section 602 does not create any exception for pending cases which were direct filed in adult court prior to the adoption of Proposition 57; however, it does reference section 707, which permits proceedings against such a person to proceed in a court of criminal jurisdiction, but only after a judicial officer has made a determination, taking into account all relevant factors, that the minor is not fit to be treated as a juvenile for crimes he or she allegedly committed while a juvenile. Like section 602, section 707 creates no exception for pending direct-filed cases.

Section 604, also left intact with the adoption of Proposition 57, sets forth the procedures for a trial court to follow whenever it appears that the subject of a pending criminal case is a juvenile offender who has not been found "unfit" under section 707.

(a) Whenever a case is before any court upon an accusatory pleading and it is suggested or appears to the judge before whom the person is

brought that the person charged was, at the date the offense is alleged to have been committed, under the age of 18 years, the judge shall immediately suspend all proceedings against the person on the charge. The judge shall examine into the age of the person, and if, from the examination, it appears to his or her satisfaction that the person was at the date the offense is alleged to have been committed under the age of 18 years, he or she shall immediately certify all of the following to the juvenile court of the county:

- (1) That the person (naming him or her) is charged with a crime (briefly stating its nature).
- (2) That the person appears to have been under the age of 18 years at the date the offense is alleged to have been committed, giving the date of birth of the person when known.
- (3) That proceedings have been suspended against the person on the charge by reason of his or her age, with the date of the suspension. The judge shall attach a copy of the accusatory pleading to the certification.
- (b) When a court certifies a case to the juvenile court pursuant to subdivision (a), it shall be deemed that jeopardy has not attached by reason of the proceedings prior to certification, but the court may not resume proceedings in the case, nor may a new proceeding under the general law be commenced in any court with respect to the same matter unless the juvenile court has found that the minor is not a fit subject for consideration under the juvenile court law and has ordered that proceedings under the general law resume or be commenced.
- (c) The certification and accusatory pleading shall be promptly transmitted to the clerk of the juvenile court. Upon receipt thereof, the clerk of the juvenile court shall immediately notify the probation officer who shall immediately proceed in accordance with Article 16 (commencing with Section 650).
- (§ 604.) Section 604 contains only one narrow exception. It does not apply "to any minor who may have a complaint filed directly against him or her in a court of criminal jurisdiction pursuant to Section 707.01." (§ 604.) Section 707.01 does not encompass all direct-filed cases; rather, it specifically deals only with those juveniles who have been "found an unfit subject to be dealt with under the juvenile

court law pursuant to Section 707." (§ 707.01.)

As stated in section 605, once a case has been certified to the juvenile court, Article 16 dictates the applicable procedures. Proceedings are initiated by the prosecutor filing a verified petition in the juvenile court alleging that the minor comes within the court's jurisdiction by virtue of his or her commission of a crime. (§§ 605, subd. (c), 656, and 656.1.) Upon the filing of a petition, the clerk of the juvenile court must set the matter for hearing as provided by section 657, unless the minor is temporarily detained in the custody of the Probation Department, in which case, a hearing must be set as provided by section 632. Thereafter, at any time prior to the attachment of jeopardy, the prosecuting attorney may move, pursuant to section 707, to transfer an eligible minor to a court of criminal jurisdiction to be tried and, if convicted, punished as though he or she had committed a crime when an adult. (§ 707.) If the motion is denied, the matter proceeds in accordance with juvenile court law and procedure: if the motion is granted, the minor is transferred back to a court of criminal jurisdiction, where proceedings resume precisely where they left off. These procedures are not unduly complex or unworkable, and they were left intact to further the voters' intent and purpose in adoption Proposition 57.

Petitioner correctly points out that Penal Code section 1170.17, enacted in 1999 with Senate Bill 334, was left intact by the voters when they adopted Proposition 57. The statute recognizes that the crimes of which a person is charged are not always identical to the crimes of which he or she is convicted and

permits a post-conviction judicial determination of fitness for juvenile offenders who were not afforded such an opportunity pre-trial. Subdivision (a) of the statute states the general rule that a defendant in a direct-filed case who is convicted of any crime "shall be subject to the same sentence as an adult convicted of the identical offense...." (Pen. Code, § 1170.17, subd. (a).) Subdivisions (b) and (c) and (d) of the statute set forth exceptions. If the defendant was not convicted of any offense which would have made him eligible for transfer to adult court under section 707, then he must be sentenced under juvenile court law. (Pen. Code, § 1170.17, subd. (d).) If he was convicted of an offense which would have made him eligible for transfer, "pursuant to a rebuttable presumption that the person is a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under the juvenile court law," he must be sentenced under juvenile court law, unless the prosecution proves, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the defendant is not a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under juvenile court law, in which case he may be sentenced in the same manner as an adult convicted of an identical offense. Finally, if the defendant was convicted of an offense which makes him eligible for transfer to a criminal court "pursuant to a rebuttable presumption that the person is not a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under the juvenile court law," he must be punished as an adult, unless the defendant proves, by a preponderance of the evidence that "he or she is a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under the juvenile court law" based on the enumerated criteria. (Pen. Code, § 1170.17, subd. (b).) The criteria for determining fitness under Penal Code section 1170.17 are identical to those

section 707, as amended, although the nonexhaustive list of factors to be considered in analyzing each criterion are not articulated in the former.

By leaving this statute intact, the voters recognized the possibility that, on the date the initiative went into effect, trials in some direct-filed cases will have commenced. Jeopardy will have attached, and mid-trial certification of the defendant to juvenile court for a pre-trial judicial determination of fitness will not be feasible. As to such defendants, a postconviction mechanism for obtaining a judicial determination of fitness remains necessary.¹⁰

E. Policy Considerations Favor A Rule Applying The Amendments To Section 707 Prospectively, Requiring Pre-Trial Certification Of Direct Filed Cases In Which Trial Has Not Commenced To The Juvenile Court And Requiring Post-Trial Judicial Determinations Of Fitness Under Section 1170.17 In Cases In Which Trial Had Commenced As Of November 8, 2016 And The Defendant Was Subsequently Convicted Of A Qualifying Crime

There is no question that, after the adoption of Proposition 57 and resulting amendments to section 707, no juvenile offender may be punished as an adult upon conviction for a crime committed when he was a child unless an individualized judicial determination of his or her fitness to be dealt with as a

¹⁰ Petitioner concedes that amendments to section 707 apply prospectively to fitness hearings which have not yet occurred. (OBM, p. 40, fn. 8.) There is no reason why such procedures would not also apply in future fitness hearings pursuant to Penal Code section 1170.17. As of November 8, 2016, there is no such thing as an offense which makes a minor subject to a "rebuttable presumption" of unfitness; accordingly, any determination made under section 1170.17 after the effective date of Proposition 57 would have to be made subject to section 707, as amended, with the burden of proving that a minor is not a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under the juvenile court law resting on the People.

juvenile has been made, no presumption of "unfitness" attaches to the commission of any particular offense, and, whether a determination of fitness is made before or after trial, the prosecution bears the burden of establishing that an eligible minor should be punished as an adult for his criminal acts. The question, then, is whether it makes sense, in pending direct-filed cases, to defer these determinations until trial of the matter has concluded and verdicts have been rendered as to all charged offenses. It does not. Such a rule would impose significant burdens on both superior courts and juvenile courts. It would require superior courts to conduct jury trials in all direct-filed cases and then, if a defendant is convicted of a section 707, subdivision (b) offense, conduct a postconviction fitness hearing in the juvenile court prior to sentencing. Whereas a section 707 hearing, even one in which fitness is contested, imposes only a minimal burden on the judicial system, jury trials are quite costly in terms of judicial resources. By requiring that a defendant's fitness be determined pre-trial, this cost would be alleviated. Inevitably some minors, after being found fit to remain in juvenile court, will resolve their cases by admitting the petitions' allegations rather than proceeding to trial. Minors facing harsh adult penalties, such as life in prison, have no incentive to do so.

A second policy consideration favors the Court of Appeal's approach – the importance of a minor's current age when determining fitness. Section 707 requires that the juvenile court, in determining whether a person is a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under juvenile court law, consider "[w]hether the minor

can be rehabilitated prior to the expiration of the juvenile court's jurisdiction"; in other words, before he or she reaches a specified age¹¹. (§§ 707, subd. (a)(2)(B)(i), 607.) An adolescent's brain develops with lightning speed¹², and the juvenile court has only a finite time period in which to address the rehabilitative needs of a minor before its jurisdiction over the minor expires. Accordingly, when considering whether a minor "can be rehabilitated prior to the expiration of the juvenile court's jurisdiction," advancement in age can be critical.

The instant case presents an excellent example. Pablo was younger than sixteen when the alleged crimes occurred and had just turned sixteen when he was arrested and a felony complaint against him was filed. By the time his section 707 hearing took place he was seventeen years old. Fortunately for Pablo, Riverside County has ample resources, services and placements for addressing the rehabilitative needs of a seventeen year-old ward of the juvenile court. However, many of those resources, services and placements have an upper age

¹¹ Section 607, subdivision (a) states the general rule, permitting the juvenile court to retain jurisdiction over a ward until he or she turns 21. Subdivision (b) permits the court to retain jurisdiction over a person committed to a state facility due to the commission of a section 707, subdivision (b) offense until he or she turns 25.

¹² Arain M, Haque M, Johal L, et al. Maturation of the adolescent brain. Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment. 2013;9:449-461.

doi:10.2147/NDT.S39776 ["adolescence is one of the most dynamic events of human growth and development, second only to infancy in terms of the rate of developmental changes that can occur within the brain"].)

¹³ These resources are summarized in the Declaration of LCSW Monica Baltierra, Attachment A to Real Party's Opposition to Petitioner's Application for Immediate Stay in the Court of Appeal.

limit of eighteen and will not be available to Pablo after February, 2018.14

Due to the impact a minor's advancement in age is likely to have on a fitness determination, construing Proposition 57 to require that determinations in cases like Pablo's be delayed until after the minor's guilt has been adjudicated by a jury in a court of criminal jurisdiction will inevitably result in fewer otherwise suitable juvenile offenders being treated and rehabilitated under juvenile court law. ¹⁵ Such a result contravenes the expressed purposes of Proposition 57: "[p]rotect[ing] and enhance[ing] public safety, "[s]av[ing] money by reducing wasteful spending on prisons," and "[s]top[ping] the revolving door of crime by emphasizing rehabilitation, especially for juveniles." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 2016) text of Prop. 57, p. 141.)

¹⁴ *Ibid*.

¹⁵ The procedures governing felony cases in superior court are protracted in comparison to those which govern section 602 petitions. In adult court, assuming that no hearings are continued and all statutory time requirements are met, trial cannot even commence for several months following the defendant's arrest and arraignment on a felony complaint. (Pen. Code, §§ 859b [preliminary hearing to occur within ten court days of arraignment on complaint], 739 [information to be filed within fifteen days of commitment order], 1382, subdivision (a)(2) [trial on felony charges to commence within sixty days of arraignment on information].) Additionally, juries may be unable to reach unanimous verdicts as to all charged offenses, necessitating additional trials. In contrast, upon the filing of a section 602 petition, a jurisdictional hearing can take place within thirty days, and even sooner in the case of a detained minor. (§ 637.) And the possibility of a hung jury does not exist, as juvenile petitions are tried before a bench officer, not a jury.

F. If This Court Concludes That The Juvenile Law Amendments Of Proposition 57 Do Not Apply To Real Party, The Section 707 Determination Made By The Juvenile Court Should Not Be Vacated

Petitioner urges this court, should it conclude that Proposition 57's juvenile law amendments do not apply here, to "vacate the juvenile-court proceedings," presumably including the juvenile court's finding under section 707 that Pablo is a fit and proper subject to be dealt with under juvenile court law. (OBM, p. 64.) Petitioner contends that the juvenile court acted in excess of its jurisdiction by conducting a hearing as to the section 707 motion filed by the People in a section 602 proceeding which the People initiated. (OBM, p. 64.) While the circumstances under which the People elected to initiative juvenile court proceedings as to Pablo were admittedly unusual, nothing done by the juvenile court was in excess of its jurisdiction.

After the trial court certified Real Party to juvenile court, the People simultaneously filed a petition for a writ of mandate in the Court of Appeal and a section 602 petition in the juvenile court. The filing of that section 602 petition vested jurisdiction over Pablo with the Juvenile Court, which thereafter conducted proceedings as required by law. When the People moved to transfer Pablo to adult court under section 707, the juvenile court ordered the probation department to submit a report, as required by section 707, subdivision (a)(1), and then, following submission of the report and consideration of the report and any other relevant evidence that either party wished to present, decided that Pablo should not be transferred back to a court of criminal jurisdiction and that he is a fit and proper

subject to be dealt with under juvenile court law. Although the People could have sought timely appellate review of that determination, they chose not to.

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